
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 
      ) 

Plaintiff,  ) No. 3:12-CR-107 
   ) 

v.      ) JUDGES PHILLIPS/SHIRLEY 
      ) 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) 
MEGAN RICE, and    ) 
GREG BOERTJE-OBED,   ) 
      ) 

Defendants.  ) 
 

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS  
NEW SABOTAGE CHARGE IN THE SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

 
 Comes now the United States of America, by and through the United States Attorney for 

the Eastern District of Tennessee, and files this response to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss New 

Sabotage Charge in the Superseding Indictment [Doc. 72].   

DISCUSSION 

 1. Vindictive Prosecution 

The defendants contend that the government engaged in vindictive prosecution when the 

Grand Jury returned a superseding indictment against the defendants, which added a violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 2155.  The defendants argue that the government’s “threat” to seek a superseding 

indictment on more serious charges if they did not plead guilty to the charges in the original 

indictment, and then charging them with the greater offense when they did not plead guilty, 

amounted to punishing them for exercising their constitutional right to a jury trial. 

The defendants’ contention is patently frivolous, as it ignores established case law and 

mischaracterizes the plea negotiation process.  To demonstrate vindictive prosecution, the 
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defendant must show (1) exercise of a protected right; (2) prosecutorial stake in the exercise of 

that right; (3) the unreasonableness of the prosecutor’s conduct; and (4) that the prosecution was 

initiated with the intent to punish the defendant for exercise of the protected right.  United States 

v. Suarez, 263 F.3d 468, 479 (6th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 991 (2002).  Threatening 

more serious charges if a defendant will not plead guilty is not unreasonable.  Bordenkircher v. 

Hayes, 434 U.S. 357 (1978).  In Bordenkircher, the Supreme Court held that a defendant’s due 

process rights were not violated when the prosecutor carried out a threat made during plea 

bargaining to add more serious charges on which the defendant was subject to prosecution if he 

did not plead guilty to the original charge.  Id. at 363.  The Supreme Court further stated in 

United States v. Goodwin, 457 U.S. 368 (1982): 

A prosecutor should remain free before trial to exercise the broad 
discretion entrusted to him to determine the extent of the societal 
interest in prosecution.  An initial decision should not freeze future 
conduct.   

 
457 U.S. at 382.  Absent a presumption of vindictiveness in this context, the defendant must 

prove that the prosecutor’s conduct was actually vindictive.  Id. at 384.  Moreover, the 

prosecutor should not file any charge until he has investigated fully all of the circumstances 

surrounding the case.  Id. at 382, n.14. 

 In the instant case, the defendants have not established vindictive prosecution.  The 

defendants mischaracterize the government’s conduct and try to suggest sinister motives.  In 

reality, the government engaged in common informal plea negotiations and its conduct was 

entirely appropriate.  After the original indictment was returned, the government properly 

continued to investigate the facts and the law applicable to the case.  Discovering other crimes 

with which defendants could be charged, the government began thoroughly analyzing the 

viability of those charges.  After becoming convinced that additional charges were appropriate, 
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the government began preparing to supersede the indictment.  Before pursuing further with those 

additional charges, however, the government gave the defendants the benefit of plea discussions 

through their counsel. Counsel for the government and the defense discussed the possibility of 

the defendants pleading guilty to the existing charges to resolve the case. The government simply 

gave the defendants an opportunity to reduce their exposure before more charges were brought.  

There was nothing inappropriate or vindictive about the government’s offer and its decision to 

seek a greater charge when the defendants declined the offer. 

 Interestingly enough, in their motion to dismiss, the defendants acknowledge the 

Supreme Court’s decision in Bordenkircher, which makes it clear that the government’s conduct 

in this case was proper, yet they ask this Court to disregard the holding in that case and follow 

the dissent.  The defendants do not come even remotely close to establishing the elements 

necessary to show vindictiveness as set forth by the Sixth Circuit in Suarez.  The fact that 

violations of 18 U.S.C. § 2155 may not be frequently charged is of no significance because the 

criminal conduct which supports such charges is relatively uncommon.   

 2. Selective Prosecution 

 The defendants contend that the government has engaged in selective prosecution by 

charging a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2155 in the Superseding Indictment.   

 To establish selective prosecution, a defendant bears the heavy burden of establishing, at 

least prima facie: 

(1) that while others similarly situated have not generally been 
proceeded against because of conduct of the type forming the basis 
of the charge against him, he has been singled out for prosecution, 
and (2) that the government’s discriminatory selection of him has 
been invidious or in bad faith, i.e., based upon such impermissible 
considerations as race, religion, or the desire to prevent the 
exercise of his constitutional rights. 
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United States v. Sammons, 918 F.2d 592, 600 (6th Cir. 1990) (quoting United States v. Hazel, 

696 F.2d 473, 474 (6th Cir. 1983); see also United States v. Anderson, 923 F.2d 450 (6th Cir.), 

cert denied, 499 U.S. 980 (1991)).   

 The defendants have not shown that the government has declined to prosecute others who 

have engaged in the same type of criminal conduct.  The only cases that the defendants cite 

which involved similar conduct, United States v. Kabat, 797 F.2d 580 (8th Cir. 1986) and United 

States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 (10th Cir. 2005) are cases where 18 U.S.C. § 2155 was also 

charged.  Historically, the typical criminal case involving nuclear protestors at Y-12 has been 

one where there was an anti-nuclear demonstration and some of the protestors intentionally and 

openly crossed the perimeter boundary line and were immediately apprehended.  The only 

criminal offense committed by such defendants was trespass.  See United States v. Mellen, No. 

3:02-cr-47 (E.D. Tenn. Sept. 4, 2002); United States v. Gump, No. 3:10-cr-94 (E.D. Tenn. May 

6, 2011).  The defendants’ conduct in the instant case is far more egregious and subjects them to 

greater criminal liability.  The defendants have not established any of the elements necessary for 

selective prosecution. 

 3. Overbreadth and Vagueness 

 The defendants contend that 18 U.S.C. § 2155 is vague and/or overbroad as applied in 

this case.  The defendants make only a perfunctory argument in support of this contention.  They 

do not explain how this statute is overbroad or vague and do not develop an argument as to how 

it is specifically overbroad or vague as applied. 

 An otherwise constitutional statute “may nevertheless be ‘overbroad’ if in its reach it 

prohibits constitutionally protected conduct.”  Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 114 

(1972).  “The crucial question” in such a case “is whether the [statute] sweeps within its 
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prohibitions what may not be punished under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.”  Id. 

at 144-15.  As stated by the Supreme Court in Virginia v. Hicks, 539 U.S. 113 (2003),  

[r]arely, if ever, will an overbreadth challenge succeed against a 
law or regulation that is not specifically addressed to speech or to 
conduct necessarily associated with speech (such as picketing or 
demonstrating).  Applications of [such a law or regulation] that 
violate the First Amendment can still be remedied through as-
applied demonstration. . . . 

Id. at 124. 

 Generally, “the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the 

criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is 

prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.”  

Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983).  “[O]rdinarily ‘[a] plaintiff who engages in some 

conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the 

conduct of others[.]’”  United States v. Williams, 128 S. Ct. 1830, 1845 (2008)(quoting Hoffman 

Estates v. Flipside, 455 U.S. 489, 494-95 (1982)).  Ordinarily “‘[o]ne to whose conduct a statute 

clearly applies may not successfully challenge it for vagueness.’”  United States v. Day, 

223 F.3d 1225, 1228 (10th Cir. 2000); Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. at 495 n.7. 

The inclusion of a scienter requirement in a statute typically serves to narrow its scope 

and to ensure that the statute will not be applied to innocent or accidental conduct.   Hill v. 

Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732 (2000) (observing that the inclusion of a scienter requirement 

decreases the likelihood that a person of common intelligence would not understand the conduct 

prohibited).  The Supreme Court had upheld the similar language “with intent or reason to 

believe” against a vagueness challenge because those words “require[] those prosecuted to have 

acted in bad faith.  The sanctions apply only when the scienter is established.”  Featherston, 

461 F.2d at 1121 (quoting Gorin v. U.S., 312 U.S. 19, 28 (1941)).  Thus, the court found 
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“knowing or having reason to know” is “sufficiently definite to apprise men of common 

intelligence of its meaning and application.”  Id. at 1121-22. 

 The case of United States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 (10th Cir. 2005) is instructive as it 

involves similar facts and a challenge to the same statute on overbreadth and vagueness grounds.  

In Platte, the defendants, three Catholic sisters, broke into a military missile site, where missiles 

could be launched within fifteen minutes of a presidential order.  Id. at 1178.  The defendants 

were able to gain entry by cutting through chain link fences.  The fences had signs affixed to 

them stating that the area was restricted and deadly force was authorized against intruders.  Id. 

After gaining entry, the defendants poured blood around the missile silos, and tapped hammers 

against the rail of the blast lid.  Id.  The defendants stated that their purpose for the intrusion was 

to expose the missile site and stop the threatened use of nuclear weapons.  Id.  The Court upheld 

their convictions for injuring, interfering, and obstructing national-defense materials and 

premises (18 U.S.C. § 2155), and depredation of government property (18 U.S.C. § 1361).  In 

upholding their convictions, the Court rejected overbreadth and vagueness challenges to 

18 U.S.C. § 2155.   

Among the overbreadth arguments made in Platte was defendants’ contention that the 

statute was overbroad because it prohibits trivial activity or intent to cause only slight injury.  Id. 

at 1188.  This is similar to the defendants’ contention in the instant case where they claim the 

statute is vague and overbroad because it “can be applied to real acts of sabotage by those 

intending to do harm to the United States and these defendants’ non-violent, symbolic acts . . .”  

[Doc. 72.]  In rejecting the defendants’ contention in Platte, the court stated, “the crucial inquiry, 

however, is not the seriousness of the activity but whether it is constitutionally protected.  The 
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punishment of minor offenses in itself does not render a statute unconstitutionally overbroad. . . .  

Vandalism is hardly protected activity.”  Id. at 1188. 

 In Platte, the court also rejected the defendants’ vagueness challenge.  The court stated, 

“There may be an expressive component to defendants’ actions, but the risk of chilling 

expression is no greater than with respect to any other statute prohibiting actions harmful to the 

federal government.”  Id. at 1190.  Regarding the term “national defense,” the Court stated, 

“Even if the boundary of ‘national defense’ is uncertain, nuclear weapons are far from the 

boundary.”  Id. at 1190. 

 The government submits that 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) could not be any more clear on what is 

proscribed.  It is clearly directed only to those who injure, destroy or contaminate national 

defense premises with the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense of the 

United States.  The term “national-defense premises” is clearly defined by statute.  See 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2151.  The prohibition of the statute is plain, simple and intelligible.  It should be clear from 

the statutory language that § 2155(a) requires those prosecuted to have acted in bad faith.  See 

Gorin, 312 U.S. at 28. This statute has no ambiguity that deprives a person of the ability to 

predetermine whether a contemplated action is criminal under the law. There is no uncertainty as 

to the term “national defense” as is relates to the defendants’ actions in this case.  The statute 

clearly does not criminalize those who lawfully exercise their First Amendment rights and 

protest against nuclear weapons, nor any other constitutionally protected activity. 

 4. Applicability of 18 U.S.C. § 2155 

 The defendants contend that the 18 U.S.C. § 2155 charge should be dismissed because 

Y-12 is not a military base, but is run by private contractors.  They argue that it does not meet the 

statutory definition of national defense premises. 
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There are two essential elements for a violation of 18 U.S. C. §2155(a).  First, the 

defendant must “willfully injure[ ], destroy[ ], or contaminate[ ], . . . any national-defense 

premises. Second, the defendant must act with the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the 

national defense of the United States.” 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), see also, Platte, 401 F.3d at 1180. 

  “National-defense premises” includes “all buildings, grounds, . . . or other places where 

in such national-defense material is being produced, manufactured, repaired, stored . . .” 

(emphasis); 18 U.S.C. § 2151. “National-defense material” includes “arms, armament, 

ammunition, munitions, . . . and any part or ingredient thereof, intended for, adapted to, or 

suitable for the use of the United States in connection with the national defense . . .” Id. 

The Y-12 National Security Complex meets the definition of “national-defense 

premises.”  Although it is operated by private contractors, it is owned by the U.S. Department of 

Energy and has oversight from the National Nuclear Security Agency.  The Y-12 Complex has 

been defined by statute as a “nuclear weapons production facility.” See 50 U.S.C. § 2471.  “Even 

if the boundary of the definition of  ‘national defense’ is uncertain, nuclear weapons are far from 

the boundary.  See Platte, 401 F.3d at 1190. “Y-12 manufactures unique nuclear weapons 

components for the nation’s long-term defense.”1   “Portions of every weapon in the U.S. nuclear 

stockpile were manufactured at Y-12.”2   

The defendant cites from Gorin v. United States, 312 U.S. 19 (1941) for a definition of 

national defense.  As Gorin makes clear, however, national defense includes, “related activities 

of national preparedness.”  Id. at 28.  Contrary to the defendants’ contention, their actions did not 

have to occur on a military base for there to be a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).  Similar to 

what the Court stated in Platte, the government submits that even if the boundary of the 

                                                      
1   http://www.y12.doe.gov/missions/defenseprograms/manufacturing.php 
2  http://www.Y12.doe.gov/missions/defenseprograms 
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definition of “national defense” is not certain, a facility that produces materials for nuclear 

weapons clearly meets the definition.  The Y-12 National Security Complex clearly meets the 

statutory definition of “national defense premises.”   

5. Federal and International Law 

The defendants contend that the production, processing, and storage of nuclear weapons 

violate both United States and international law. 

For purpose of this argument, the government incorporates its response to Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss Indictment as if fully set forth herein.  [Doc. 51.]  Moreover, for the reasons 

set forth in this Court’s Report and Recommendation, the government contends that this Court 

should deny the defendants’ motion on this issue.  [Doc. 63.] 

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny the 

defendants’ motion to dismiss Count One of the superseding indictment.  

Respectfully submitted this 31st day of  January, 2013. 

       WILLIAM C. KILLIAN 
       United States Attorney 
 
      By: s/ Jeffrey E. Theodore                     
       Jeffrey E. Theodore 
 
       s/ Melissa M. Kirby                         
       Melissa M. Kirby   

Assistant United States Attorneys 
       800 Market Street, Suite 211 
       Knoxville, Tennessee  37902 
       (865) 545-4167 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on January 31, 2013, the foregoing was filed electronically.  Notice 
of this filing will be sent by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system to all parties 
indicated on the electronic filing receipt.  Parties may access this filing through the Court’s 
electronic filing system. 
 
      By: s/ Jeffrey E. Theodore                    
       Jeffrey E. Theodore 
       Assistant United States Attorney  
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